Donations to and purchases for the Museum,
1 April 1984–30 September 1985

With the formation of the National Museums of Scotland on 1 October 1985, the National Museum of Antiquities ceased to exist (see the Annual Report of the Society, 30 November 1985, this volume). The following lists are therefore the final record of donations to and purchases for the Museum and Library. They cover the 18 months between 1 April 1984 and 30 September 1985, and are arranged as continuous lists for that period, rather than being broken down into two separate annual and half annual sections.

Discussions are presently underway to determine what form any future record of accessions published in the Proceedings will take, and how it will reflect the connection between the aims and philosophy of the Society and the expanded collecting policies of the new National Museums of Scotland. Whatever decision is finally reached, however, the present lists bring to an end a tradition of recording all accessions in our Proceedings which stretches back to the first publication of the Proceedings in 1854 and before that, through Archaeologia Scotica and William Smellie’s Account, to the foundation of the Society itself in 1780. Truly the end to ane auld sang!

DONATIONS

PREHISTORIC-VIKING

1 The blade and butt of a polished stone axe-head (probably Group VI) found by the donor during the construction of a driveway at 1 Old Glendevon Farm Cottages, Winchburgh. By Mrs F COUPER, Winchburgh, West Lothian.

2 Bone pin with dot decoration around the upper part of the shank, found in 1983 at the bottom of grave diggings at Kilmuir, Hougarry, North Uist. By N MACVICAR, North Uist.

3 Tanged bronze blade found by the donor on the shore of Loch Lednoc reservoir near Comrie, Perthshire. By J SCOTT, Tullibody, Clackmannanshire.

4 Bronze flanged axe found by the donor in July 1982 during road works at Scotlandwell, Fife. By K WOOD, St Boswells, Roxburghshire.

5 Circular armlet, a flat axe and the butt end of a second axe (fitting the cutting end of an axe already in the Museum); all from the early Bronze Auchnacree Hoard, retained by Mr J M Naylor in 1922 when the remainder of the Hoard was acquired by the National Museum. By Mrs F C ALLUM, Farnham, Surrey.

MEDIEVAL


7 Sherds of post-medieval green glazed earthenware found by the donor in the lower reaches of the River Endrick (NGR NS 468 875). By P MAITLAND, Edinburgh.


9 Finds from the excavations in Berwick-upon-Tweed in 1975 and 1976, as published in Archaeol
Aeliana, 5 ser, 10 (1982), 67–124. By Dr J R Hunter, School of Archaeological Science, University of Bradford.

10 Bronze spiral finger-ring found by the donor on the intertidal zone of Seton Sands, East Lothian. By I Kinloch, East Linton, East Lothian.

11 Cast-iron cannon ball found on a footpath in Holyrood Park (NGR NT 273 730). By G Elton, Edinburgh.


13 Gunstone from the site of Markle, East Linton. By D Farquhar, Wallyford, East Lothian.

14 A sherd of slipware found in the donor’s garden. By Mrs G Gilchrist, Carradale, Argyll.

15 Finds from excavations at Aberdour Castle gardens, 1977–80, including an almost complete glass bell jar, sherds of pottery and a clasp knife (see G Ewart and N Hynde in Garden Hist Soc J (1983)). By Scottish Development Department (Ancient Monuments).

16 Iron rowel spur. By W Quarrie Brown, Melrose, Roxburghshire.

17 Lead core from a decorative mount found in the donor’s garden. By W McKirdy, Musselburgh, Midlothian.

MODERN

18 Silver crowned heart brooch; gold bar brooch set with seed pearls, engraved ‘Ann Reid 5 Oct 1885’; two white paste cameo brooches, one set in gold, the other in jet. By the late Mrs I Aitken, Edinburgh, per her executor Mrs E Gillies, Bangor, N Ireland.

ILLUS 1 Extract of minute of the Incorporation of Goldsmiths of Edinburgh, with silver seal box by Francis Howden, Edinburgh, 1811 (Donation)
19 Cruisie lamp and a three-legged cast-iron pot with an iron tripod and a crook and links. By Sheriff W S Stevenson, Inverbervie, Angus.

20 Flintlock musket, badly rusted and lacking its butt, said to be the weapon used to murder Campbell of Glenure in 1772 – the 'Appin Murder'. By Miss E McGuffie, Petersfield, Hants.

21 Chinese export porcelain bowl, known as the 'Dolphin Bowl' and mentioned in *Notices Ambrosianae* by Christopher North, the nephew of the owner Robert Sym (1752–1845); and three silver toddy ladles, accompanying the bowl, engraved 'RS', by Alexander Edmonston, Edinburgh, 1806–7. By J R Ingram, Edinburgh.

22 Extract of minute of the Incorporation of Goldsmiths of Edinburgh electing the Lord Provost, William Calder, as a member, dated 14 September 1811; complete with seal of the Incorporation and silver seal box by Francis Howden, Edinburgh, 1811 (illus 1). By Mrs G E P How, London.

23 A copy of The Bible printed by Sir D Hunter Blair and J Bruce, Edinburgh, 1814, bound together with an edition of The Psalms of David in metre, printed 1811; with dates of birth of members of the donor's family (1823–62). By Mrs M McLeod, Turriff, Aberdeenshire.

24 Funeral escutcheon on silk, for a coffin covering, with the arms of the 4th Duke of Gordon. By the late Miss I Brown per her executor Mrs Gilbert, Fochabers, Morayshire.

25 Nineteenth-century Bible with 'Flora E MacDonald' in gilt lettering on front cover, said to have been taken by her from Scotland to America and preserved by her descendants. By W H MacDonald, Hollywood, California, USA.

26 Documents relating to James Francis Hamilton Richardson, including an extract of birth register, Bagnères, France, 27 July 1841, admission to Apothecaries' Hall, London, 2 February 1865, and a certificate of fitness for exercising the Art and Science of Surgery from the Royal College of Surgeons of England; First Class Merit Certificate of the New Veterinary College, Edinburgh for Mr Leitch, 1887–8; a Certificate of competency as a Master given by the Lords of the Committee of Privy Council for Trade to George Markham Richardson, 30 May 1870; an invitation card for

**ILLUS 2** One of a pair of earthenware jugs of the 'Gardner's Society of Haddington' (Donation)

Pair of earthenware jugs, with transfer prints of gardening scenes and ‘Gardeners Society Haddington’ (illus 2). By T I Hardie, Edinburgh.

Collection of 607 items of Scottish glass amassed by the late Mrs Janet C Paterson and her son Mr Alan Paterson Esq, including sets of wine, spirit and ale glasses, engraved Jacobite wine glasses, bottles, decanters, dishes, commemorative plates, glass ‘toys’ and ‘figgers’. By A Paterson, Edinburgh.

Stoneware bottle by the Port Dundas Pottery Co., Glasgow, marked ‘MacLeods Famed Brewed Ginger’. By C I MacLeod, Scalpay, Harris, Inverness-shire.

Household account book of Elizabeth Thompson, Bethelfield Manse, Kirkcaldy, 1859; a document with seal, agreeing to the apportioning of the estate of James Bremner of Forres, 18 April 1882. By A Scott, Edinburgh.

Clay pipe fragments, including pieces by Tho White & Co., Edinburgh, A Donald(son), Edinburgh and Burns, Glasgow; clay pipe-stem advertising Wm Younger’s Edinburgh Ales; clay pipe-bowl commemorating General Gordon; all from the donor’s garden. By Mrs G Burns, Dirlton, East Lothian.


Wooden mission box from the United Presbyterian Church. By G R Campbell, Lasswade, Midlothian.

The foundation deposit from the John Ker Memorial church (United Presbyterian) Edinburgh, deposited Saturday 5 November 1892, consisting of a jar containing contemporary coins, newspapers, a history of the church and a list of members. By The Congregational Board, Polwarth Parish Church, Edinburgh.

Set of bed hangings with crewel work decoration, designed by Sir Robert Lorimer, from Gibliston House, Fife; silver trowel used by Sir Robert Lorimer in laying the foundation stone of the Knights of the Thistle Chapel, Edinburgh, 6 November 1909. By C Lorimer, St Andrews, Fife.

Wooden trophy shield of the Midlothian Ladies County Golf Club inter club tournament, awarded between 1911 and 1951. By C H Stout, Edinburgh.


‘Mashie’ golf club, with stainless steel head forged for Thos Firth & Sons Ltd, Sheffield by the National Projectile Company and finished by Geo Ibberson & Company, Sheffield, c 1917. By Dr W G Ibberson, Sheffield.

Cast-iron 1 pint pot bought in 1912 and a ‘hair sieve’. By J Jennings, Edinburgh.

Four hand-held fire screens, two decorated with wool work pictures, two with beadwork patterns. By Mrs M MacLeod, Edinburgh.


Two measures for fitting and sizing finger rings and a ring cutting tool. By J Bonnar, Edinburgh.


Iron fender; patchwork blanket and frame; six cloutie rugs and rug making tool; wooden rope twister; Edinburgh University Agricultural Society photograph; wheel and axle for wooden barrow; weighing beam; two Fife flax cloths; leather working tool. By J Paterson, St Andrews, Fife.

Knitting belt from Balta Sound, Unst, Shetland. By Mrs J Parr, Malvern, Worcestershire.

A Metro-Flex camera, with film, made by Metropolitan Industries, Chicago. By J Petrie, Keith, Banffshire.

Wooden and brass slide rule for calculating weight of paper, made by Bertrams Limited, St Katherine’s Works, Sciennes, Edinburgh, for the German export market, c 1920. By C R Dawson, Edinburgh.

39 Three-piece extendable ‘bronzed’ fender; metal firescreen with ‘copper’ finish; cotton ‘Vantona’
bed cover; mattress with utility mark. By Miss B Robertson, Edinburgh.
40 Metal calendar medallion showing Jewish feast days, dated 1937. By Rev M Dilworth, Edinburgh.
41 Early safety bicycle, found in the Abbeyhill district of Edinburgh. By D R Reilly, Edinburgh.
42 Small collection of household items including a washing board, c 1940; four carpenter’s tools
impressed ‘G Notman’. By Mrs M Notman, Edinburgh.
43 Table-mounted wool winder and a carpet bodger. By Miss M Reid, Edinburgh.
44 Certificate of membership of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland for James Cumming Wallace,
MA, dated 19 November 1950; leather bookmark from a book owned by the late Miss Greta
Michie, Glenesk; copy of Philips Comprehensive Atlas, inscribed ‘Present to Firth, by James
Coats Jr Esq, Ferguslie House, Paisley, March 1905’. By Dr A Fenton, FSA Scot.
45 Two television sets manufactured by Kolster-Brandes Ltd, and an instruction booklet for a
wireless made by the same company, all c 1950. By J Pirie Glen, Edinburgh.
46 Collection of medical instruments used in general practice. By Dr Hutchinson, Aberlady, East
Lothian.
47 Collection of bookmarks. By Miss M Smith, Turriff, Aberdeenshire.
48 Wooden mustard mill, complete with lid and iron grinding ball, which formerly belonged to the
49 Bagpipe Tutor, Captain Percy Sturock Piping for Boys: or A Pipers Primer, Encas Mackay,
Stirling, 1911. By Mrs K Thomson, Humberstone, Leicester.
50 Set of Highland bagpipes, ivory mounted, given to the donor by Pipe Major Andrew McKintosh,
51 Drum Major’s mace and pipe banner of the Edinburgh Special Constabulary. By I Anderson,
Penicuik, Midlothian.
52 Collection of items from the private chapel of the late Lord and Lady Carmont, formerly of
Greenhill Gardens, Edinburgh, including: four complete sets of High Mass Vestments, a gold
pectoral cross, collection of Papal commemorative medals, a silver gilt chalice, missals, altar
cloths, candles, holy statues. By the Trustees of the Carmont Estate, per Mr Whitelaw,
Edinburgh.
53 Man’s cloak of hard tartan, c 1840. By R Davin, Windleigh, Devon.
54 Collection of dresses, clothing and accessories belonging to the donors’ family, living in Ayrshire
55 Child’s whitework christening robe with small cap sleeves and scalloped hem. By Miss S M
Taylor, Edinburgh.
56 Lady’s black woollen riding skirt. By Capt J Hay of Hayfield, Turriff, Aberdeenshire.
57 Two dresses, one comprising a skirt and jacket, the other a skirt, overskirt and jacket, c 1880. By
Mrs M Lugton, Edinburgh.
58 Collection of ladies’ cotton lingerie, c 1910. By Mrs M Howard, Edinburgh.
59 Court dress worn by Sir Alexander Frederick, MP for Perth, 1910–18; a black beaver tricorn hat
which belonged to Lord Fleming, c 1920; and a black beaver tricorn hat which belonged to
Principal Stewart, c 1900. By M R Innes of Edengight, The Lord Lyon.
60 Items of 20th-century costume and accessories. By Miss K Roger, Edinburgh; Mrs J Inglis
Sykes, Edinburgh.

COUNTRY LIFE

61 Flauchter spade; samples of flax and jute from the Free Church College. By Dr A S Clarke,
Yarrow, Selkirkshire.
62 Cheese-making vat from Carvenon farm, Anstruther, c 1880. By Dr M L Gilchrist, Edinburgh.
63 Windpump by Dickie of East Kilbride, used at Parkhouse, Quothquan, Lanarkshire for pumping a
water supply. By J N Murray-Usher, Biggar, Lanarkshire.
64 Poacher’s salmon net from the River Lochy. By H MacColl, Fort William, Inverness-shire.
65 Collection of bee-keeping and agricultural equipment, formerly on loan to the National Museum
of Antiquities of Scotland (L 1961.50–107; L 1967.62–82). By the Edinburgh School of
Agriculture per Prof P N Wilson, Edinburgh.
76 Catalogue and Repair price list, 1904, of Modern Implements manufactured by Moline Plow Co, Moline, Illinois, USA. By Mr S Wood, Edinburgh University Library.

77 Smiddy tools and miscellaneous items from Burrelton Smiddy, Perthshire, used by the late William Hally. By Mr & Mrs Dewar, Perth, Perthshire.

78 Pair of hoof-cutting forceps or shears for cattle. By M A Carmichael, Fort William, Inverness-shire.

79 Irish oatcake toaster, made in the Ulster Folk Museum. By Dr A Fenton, FSA Scot.

80 Model of logging cart made by the donor. By G Clarke, Uphall, West Lothian.

PURCHASES

GENERAL

Flint arrowhead from Corrie Cravie, Arran.
Lozenge-shaped flint arrowhead from Ness, Lewis.
Flint axe head from Peattieshill Farm, Leven, Fife (Treasure Trove).
Hoard of late Bronze-Age axes from Eildon Mid Hill (Treasure Trove).
Bronze-Age gold dress fastener from the Isle of Skye (illus 3) (Treasure Trove).
Viking-Age tortoise brooch from Thurso (illus 4) (Treasure Trove).
Lochaber axe, and halberd with a double axe-blade surmounted by a spear point.
Five carved panels with coats of arms, part of a wooden pediment and an oblong panel carved with two angels, all of which had been used to make up a settle in Grange House; Edinburgh.
Two cast bronze guns, with the arms and initials of William Forbes of Tolquhon, 1588 (illus 5).

ILLUS 3 Bronze-Age gold dress fastener from the Isle of Skye (Purchase: Treasure Trove)
Illus 4 Viking-Age tortoise brooch from Thurso (Purchase: Treasure Trove)

Eleven panels of green silk, embroidered with flowers, insects and ‘sir coline campbell/dame ieliane campbell of gp/1632’.

Gold ring with swivel bezel with the arms and mark of Cuthbert Campbell, a Glasgow merchant, 1624–1700, found in a garden in Campbeltown (Treasure Trove).

Coconut, used as a powder flask, mounted with a pewter nozzle, and carved with the Royal Arms (1707–14) within a garter crowned. Also carved on it are a pot of lilies supported by dragons above ‘the dundie arms’, and a crowned thistle surrounded by the motto ‘nea mo mea impune lasese t’.

Illus 5 One of two cast bronze guns, with the arms and initials of William Forbes of Tolquhon, 1588 (Purchase)
Jacobite wine glass, engraved with portrait of Prince Charles Edward Stuart and the motto 'AUDENTIOR IBO' (illus 6).

Tall longcase clock with brass dial, by John Brown, Edinburgh, 1745.

Longcase clock with brass dial, by John Smith, Pittenweem, c 1775.

Book of silver engraver's 'pulls' taken from completed work, subjects mainly relate to Dundee area, c1803–c1850.

Two 'Edinburgh' shawls, by Gibbs and MacDonald, c 1830.


Silver pair-cased pocket watch with verge escapement, by George Lumsden, Pittenweem, c 1825.

Mahogany veneer bracket clock with painted dial signed 'John Henderson, Dunfermline', c 1825.
Round dial church clock with mahogany frame, the dial inscribed 'A GIFT FROM/DAVID MORISON ESQ' and 'J & A MCNAB, PERTH', c 1830.

Muckle Wheel; double flier spinning wheel; wool winder; salmon leister, cruisie lamp and a lampa Dhubh.

Collection of 18 longcase, painted dial clocks, by a variety of makers from throughout Scotland and having a variety of dial subjects.

Longcase clock, by Adam Cockburn, Haddington, with unusual 'A' frame movement with separate strike mechanism.

Longcase regulator clock, by Alex Torry, Castle Douglas.

Silver mounted dirk, with knife and fork, presented by the Northern Meeting to Duncan McKay for piping, 20 October 1850.

Oil painting, The Reapers.

Presentation set of bagpipes by Robert Reid, given to Robert Millar of Montrose, c 1830, and a MS book of pipe music.

Set of Scottish pastoral bagpipes, Aberdeen, c 1830.

Two cups, two saucers and a tea-plate, ‘Classic’ design, by J & M P Bell & Co, Glasgow.

Earthenware tile, painted with a ship in full sail, with impressed mark ‘FLEMING/GLASGOW’.

Barvas ware teapot and crogan.

Wemyss Ware brush pot with Gaelic inscriptions and bowl.

Collection of 64 pieces of glass made by the Monart and Vasart Companies of Perth.

Earthenware mug, commemorating 1984-5 Miners’ Strike.

Two cast-iron fireplaces from merchants houses in Invergordon.

Collection of Scottish folk-life material.

Fordson Major tractor, E27N, built 1945.

FURNITURE

Dark stained sideboard, by William Christie, Edinburgh, c 1920; three dark stained dining chairs marked ‘Made in Shieldhall’ (Co-operative made); two EPNS fluted vases, marked ‘WA’.

Items bought at Christie’s sale of the contents of Marchmont House, Berwickshire:

Mahogany washstand with fitted drawer and marble top made by Whytock & Reid, possibly designed by Sir Robert Lorimer.

Ebonised and gilt serpentine dressing table, and four-poster bed with damask hangings, the back piece woven with the McEwen monogram, made by Whytock & Reid for Mr McEwen who purchased Marchmont House in 1913, possibly designed by Sir Robert Lorimer.

COINS AND MEDALS

Countermarked silver dollars and copper tokens bought from the sale of the Walter Allen collection (Spink, 14/15 March 1984):

Countermarked silver dollar, Glaston Friendly Society, lot 18

Countermarked silver dollar, Rothesay Cotton Works, 1820, lot 25

Countermarked forged dollar, Alloa Colliery, 1824, lot 33

Countermarked ‘cartwheel’ 1d, 1797, Glasgow Bank, lot 41

Countermarked silver dollar, Thistle Bank, Glasgow, lot 42

Countermarked silver dollar, New Lanark Mills, lot 56

Countermarked silver dollar, New Lanark Mills, lot 60

Countermarked silver dollar, Deanston Cotton Mill, Doune, lot 82

Countermarked copper blank, Deanston Works, lot 84

Countermarked Edinburgh ½d, 1790, I Mitchell H Down (Doune?), lot 85

Countermarked copper blank, Mrs Somervill Down (Doune?), lot 87

Countermarked Edinburgh ½d, 1796, I Somervill Down (Doune?), lot 88

Countermarked copper token, Duncan McLaren, Merchant, Lochearn, lot 90

Countermarked silver dollar, Stewart Dunlop & Co, Levernt Mill, Renfrewshire, lot 91

Countermarked silver dollar, J McK & Son, Greenock, lot 95

Countermarked silver dollar, J & A Muir, Greenock, lot 100
Countermarked silver dollar, J & J W, Hurlet (Copperas Coal Company, Hurlet, Renfrewshire), lot 104
Countermarked silver dollar, Forster & Corbet, Hutchesontown, Renfrewshire, lot 106
Countermarked silver dollar, J Muir, Paisley, lot 113
Countermarked silver dollar, A Steven & Sons, Port Glasgow, lot 119.

Pilgrim badge with a representation of St Andrew, from Billingsgate, London.
Gold Unicorn of James IV (Burns 3 var).

ILLUS 7 Silver travelling Canteen of Prince Charles Edward Stuart; the outer case and beakers by Ebenezer Oliphant, Edinburgh, 1740–1 (Purchase)
Countermarked silver dollar, Blantyre Works, Lanarkshire.
Bronze medal commemorating Henri, Duc de Rohan (MI 208/86).
Bronze medal commemorating the proposed Union of Parliaments, 1604.
Silver medal commemorating Charles II’s coronation at Scone, 1651.
Silver dux medal presented by Kirkcudbright Academy to James Niven, 1828.
Collection of seven medals awarded to D M McFarlane for piping and dancing during the 1880s and 1890s.

**SILVER (Edinburgh unless otherwise stated)**

Communion cup, by John Mosman, 1585, from Rosneath: St Modans Parish Church. (One of two cups, the other purchased by the City of Edinburgh Museums and Art Galleries.)

Communion cup, by GZ (?George Zeigler), Canongate, 1696, from Bolton Parish Church. (One of two cups, the other purchased by the City of Edinburgh Museums and Art Galleries.)

Communion cup, by Ebenezer Oliphant, 1741–2; communion cup, by Leonard Urquhart, 1840–1, both from Farr Parish Church.


‘Snake handled’ ovoid tea urn by James Ker, 1736 and an urn tray by James Ker, 1735.

Pair of salvers, each with four hoof feet, but also having a detachable central single foot (one missing), engraved with the arms of Maxwell of Pollock, by James Ker, 1733–4.

Tea caddy, by George Cooper, Aberdeen, c 1735.

Travelling Canteen of Prince Charles Edward Stuart, by Ebenezer Oliphant, 1740–1 (illus 7). The purchase price was raised by a public campaign after an application for an Export Licence was delayed by the Minister for the Arts.

Pair of shoe-buckles, set with steel clasps and tangs, by Edward Livingston, Dundee, c 1820.

Items purchased at Christie’s sale of the David Morris Collection:

- Disc-end spoon, by Thomas Moncur, Aberdeen, c 1640
- Miniature mug, possibly by John Munro, Inverness, c 1705
- Miniature two-handled cup, probably by William MacLean, Inverness, c 1715
- Pair of plain mugs, by John Baillie, Inverness, c 1740
- Dish ring, by Hugh Ross, Tain, c 1780
- Pair of candlesticks with marks of J Parsons & Co, Sheffield and Alexander MacLeod, Inverness, c 1780.

Dish ring, by Patrick Robertson, 1782.

Punch bowl, engraved with the Hanoverian Royal Arms, by CB (? Charles Bendy), 1825.

Inkwell in the form of a lamp, by ‘W M’, c 1840.
Donations to and purchases for the Library, 1 April 1984–30 September 1985

DONATIONS

D G Adams & A McAneny
   Celtic and medieval religious houses in Angus, Brechin, 1984.
   By the author

J M Allan
   By the author

P Baines
   By the publisher

J R Baldwin
   By HMSO

N Q Bogdan
   By the Scottish Development Department

R Boström
   Sveriges domkyrkor, Stockholm, 1952.
   By A Fenton

R Burns & J K Lees
   The songs of Burns, nd.
   By M F Michie's Exeucry

R J Cramp
   By the author

I De Geer
   Earl, saint, bishop, skald and music, Uppsala, 1985. [Doctoral dissertation]
   By J R Hume

G Douglas, et al
   By the publisher

A J Durie & R Mellor
   By the publisher

A-M Ericsson
   By A Fenton

P France & A Strugnell (eds)
   By the editors

Germanischen National Museums
   A full report of the Grand Tournament at Eglinton Castle, Edinburgh, 1839.
   By R Weatherup

P F Gladwin
   The solar alignment at Brainport Bay, Minard, Argyll, np, 1985.
   By the author

Glasgow Museums and Art Galleries
   The thistles of Scotland, Glasgow, 1983.
   By C J Burnett

M Gray
   By the publisher

H-U Haedeke
   Blankwaffen [Exhib cat], Köln, 1982. [= Schriften des Deutschen Klingemuseums Solingen, 1.]
   By the Museum

W A Hanna
   Celtic migrations, Belfast, 1985.
   By the author

D W Harding
   By the author
Hayward Gallery, London  
*By the Gallery*

J W Hedges  
*By the author*

D M Heisler  
*By A Fenton*

J R Hume & T Jackson  
*By the publisher*

J R Hunter (ed)  
*By the editor*

L Jacobi  
*By D Baatz*

Josef-Haubrich Kunsthalle: Köln  
*By the National Gallery of Scotland*

J Kerr  
**History of curling**, Edinburgh, 1890.  
*By M F Michie’s Executor*

C Leitch  
**Golf for girls**, nd.  
*By J A Barton*

A J Macdonald  
*By H M Matthews*

N MacDonald  
*By the author*

J MacFarlane  
**History of Clan MacFarlane**, Glasgow, 1922.  
*By R L O MacFarlane*

A MacGregor  
*By the publisher*

R J Mercer  
[= Univ Edin Dept Archaeol Occas Pap, 11.]  
*By Edinburgh University Dept Archaeology*

Museum alter Plastik, Frankfurt am Main  
**Spätantike und frühes Christentum**, Frankfurt am Main, 1983.  
*By Stadtische Galerie Frankfurt*

Museum Boymans-van Beuningen Rotterdam  
*By the National Gallery of Scotland*

Museum für Kunst u Kulturgeschichte, Dortmund  
*By A Fenton*

National Museum of Ireland, Dublin  
**Irish silver from the seventeenth to the nineteenth century**, Washington DC, 1982.  
*By the Smithsonian Institution*

Nature Conservancy Council  
*By the Nature Conservancy Council*

Naturhistorischen Gesellschaft Nürnberg  
**Festschrift zum jährigen Bestehen der Abteilung für Vorgeschichte der Naturhistorischen Gesellschaft Nürnberg e. V., Nürnberg, 1982.**  
*By A Fenton*

T O’Raifeartaigh (ed)  
*By G F Mitchell*

B A Park  
*By the author*

R M Pinkerton & W J Windram  
**Mylne’s Court**, Edinburgh, 1983.  
*By the authors*

Potato Marketing Board  
**List of authorised merchants**, 1937.  
*By G Hastie*

G Quail  
*By Glasgow District Libraries*


J Scott Hadrian's Wall, Edinburgh, 1984. By the publisher


Conservation Bureau

Scottish National Portrait Gallery Great Scots, Edinburgh, nd. By the Gallery


Scottish Special Housing Association A chronicle of forty years 1937–1977, np, nd. By C Burnett

F & P Sharratt Écosse romane, np, 1985. By the publisher

J R Sherriff Prehistoric sculpture in Angus, Angus, 1985. By the author


J S Smith George Washington Wilson’s Aberdeen, Keighley, 1982. By the publisher

A R Somerville The sundials of Scotland, np, 1984. By the author

M Steven The good Scots diet, Aberdeen, 1985. By the author

Stewartry District Council Gravestone project pre-1918 Stewartry District, 5V, 1985. By the District Council

Strathclyde Department Education Hadrian's Wall and the Antonine Wall, np, 1984–5. By W S Wilkie


B Walker & W S Gaudie Architects and architecture on Tayside, Dundee, 1984. By B Walker

C R Wickham-Jones & N Sharples An interim report on the excavations at Farm Fields, Kinloch, Rhum 1984, Edinburgh, 1984. By the authors

Offprints, catalogues, reports, pamphlets etc were received from, among others:
DONATION OF BOOKS TO LIBRARY BY MR ALASTAIR KENNEDY, JULY 1985

C P Ackers
C P Ackers
R C Andrew
Viscount Astor & B S Rowntree
Viscount Astor & B S Rowntree
Viscount Astor & B S Rowntree
K Brandt
E H Carrier
F Fraser Darling
C V Dawe
East of Scotland College of Agriculture
R Ede
H L Edlin
V C Fishwick
T B Franklin
A Fraser
A Fraser
A Fraser
J Gunston
J Gunston
J Gunston
A D Hall
J Hammond
J E Handley
E Hart
H J Hine
M R K Jerram
J Keith
P McConnell
J S Murray
A W Oldershaw
J Orr
R Perry
H E Poole
Earl of Portsmouth
C Reynolds
D H Robinson
D H Robinson
D H Robinson (ed)
E J Russel (ed)
F D Smith & B Wilcox
R G Stapledon
A G Street
A G Street
J A Symon

Our woodlands, their sacrifice and renovation, 1945.
Practical British forestry, 1938.
Agricultural reference book, nd.
The agricultural dilemma, 1935.
British agriculture: the principles of future policy, 1938.
Mixed farming and muddled thinking, nd.
The reconstruction of world agriculture, 1945.
The pastoral heritage of Britain: a geographical study, 1936.
Crofting agriculture, Edinburgh, 1945.
Farming to beat inflation: papers given at the eighteenth annual conference, 12–13 December 1978, Edinburgh, nd.
The principles of agriculture, 1946.
British woodland trees, 1944.
Farming Review.
Good farming, np, 1944.
A history of Scottish farming, Edinburgh, 1952.
Sheep farming, 1937.
Sheep husbandry, 1954.
Sheep production, 1947.
Farming month by month, 1943.
How to run a small farm, 1948.
to be a farmer, 1941.
Reconstruction and the land, 1941.
Cattle at the crossroads, Worcester, 1944.
Scottish farming in the eighteenth century, 1953.
Northcountry farm animals, Clapham, 1975.
Herding a hill hirsel, Glasgow, 1929.
Good farming by machine, 1948.
A text book on forest management, 1935.
Fifty years of farming, 1954.
The agricultural notebook, 1953.
Good farm crops, 1944.
A short history of British agriculture, 1928.
I went a' shepherding, 1944.
Perspectives for country men, 1942.
British farm stock, 1950.
Glory Hill Farm, 1945.
Good grassland, 1947.
The new farming, 1938.
Fream's elements of agriculture, 1949.
Royal Highland & Agricultural Society of Scotland, Transactions, 6 ser, 2–5, 7, 9, Edinburgh, 1979–86.
Agriculture: today and tomorrow, 1945.
Living in the country, 1940.
The hill lands of Britain: development or decay, 1937.
Farmer's glory, 1934.
To be a farmer's boy, 1935.
Scottish farming past and present, Edinburgh, 1959.
DONATIONS TO AND PURCHASES FOR THE LIBRARY, 1984-85 | 465

W L Taylor  
E Thomas  
J F H Thomas  
R Trow-Smith  
A S Turnbull  
A S Turnbull  
R Urquhart  
R Wallace  
H Watson  
J A S Watson  
J A S Watson & M E Hobbs  
J A S Watson & J A More  
S J Watson  
A D Webster  
West of Scotland Agricultural College  
R Wightman

Forests and forestry in Great Britain, 1946.  
An introduction to agricultural economics, 1949.  
Sheep, 1945.  
English husbandry: from the earliest time to the present day, 1951.  
Men amongst sheep, np, nd.  
Sheep and sheep farming, np, nd.  
Farm livestock of Great Britain, Edinburgh, 1923.  
Botanical notes on trees of the British forests, Edinburgh, 1948.  
The farming year, 1938.  
Great farmers, 1937.  
Feeding of livestock, 1949.  
Websters' practical forestry, 1917.  
Livestock farming, 1952.

PURCHASES AND EXCHANGES

G Alfoldy  
J P Allen  
L Allason-Jones & R Miket  
S Alleyn  
M Almagro Basch  
M Almagro Basch  
J Almagro Gorbea  
A S Anderson  
M Anderson & J Monteith  
M Angeles Querol & M Santonja  
Antwerp Volkskundemuseum  
C J Arnold  
G Arwidsson & G Berg  
E Aubet Semmeler et al  
G Bailey (ed)  
H M Barnford  
F Baratte  
J Barber & D A Magee  
B Barnes  
T B Barry et al  
M Barthorp  
G P Bennett

Los Baebii de Saguntum, Valencia, 1977. [ = Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 56.]  
The catalogue of small finds from South Shields Roman fort, Newcastle upon Tyne, 1984. [ = Soc Antiq Newcastle upon Tyne Monogr Ser, 2.]  
Houses at risk in Ayrshire, 1983.  
Segobriga, 1, Madrid, 1983. [ = Excav Arqueol España, 123.]  
Segobriga, 2, Inscriptiones Ibericas, Latinas Paganas y Latinas Christianas, Madrid, 1984. [ = Excav Arqueol España, 137.]  
La necropolis de Baria (Almeria), Madrid, 1984. [ = Excav Arqueol España, 129.]  
Greenock from old photographs, Greenock, 1980.  
El yacimiento de cantos trabajos de El Aculadero, Madrid, 1983. [ = Excav Arqueol España, 130.]  
Van nederzetting tot metropol, Antwerp, nd.  
The Anglo-Saxon cemeteries of the Isle of Wight, 1982.  
La mesa de Setafilla, Lora del Rio (Sevilla), Madrid, 1983. [ = Excav Arqueol España, 122.]  
Beaker domestic sites in the Fen Edge and East Anglia, Dereham, 1982. [ = E Anglian Archaeol, 16.]  
Le trésor d'argenterie gallo-romaine de Notre-Dame-d'Allencon (Manne et Loire), Paris, 1981. [ = Suppl Gallea, 40.]  
The Western Isles, Edinburgh, [1985].  
Kells motte, Co Kilkenny, Dublin, 1984. [ = Proc Roy Ir Acad, 84C, 4.]  
The great road between Forth and Tay, Markinch, nd.
Excavations at Canterbury Castle, Maidstone, 1982. [= Archaeology of Canterbury, 1.]

The Cunetio treasure: Roman coinage of the third century AD, 1983.

History on the ground, Gloucester, 1984.


Working at archaeology, 1983.


Early medieval coins from Lincoln and its shire c 770–1100, 1983. [= Archaeology of Lincoln, 6(1).]


Castulo, 4, Madrid, 1984. [= Excav Arqueol España, 131.]

Verleden Land: archeologische opravingen in Nederland, Amsterdam, 1981.

The fishertown of Nairn, Nairn, 1983.

La Cova Negra de Xativa y el Musteriense de la region central del Mediterranea Espanol, Valencia, 1984. [= Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 79.]

Laterarium Iscanum: the antefixes, brick and tile stamps of the Second Augustan Legion, Cardiff, 1984.

An Islay notebook, Greenock, nd.


The emigrant Scots, 1982.


The excavations of Whitegrounds Barrow, Burythorpe, Wintringham, 1984.


Conference transactions, V 6, Medieval art and architecture at Winchester Cathedral, 1983.


Gwernvale and Penywyrdl: two neolithic long cairns in the Black Mountains of Brecknock, Cardif, 1984. [= Cambrian Archaeol Monogr, 2.]

Recent progress in microwear studies, Tervuren, 1982. [= Studio Prehistorica Belgica, 2.]

Augusta Emerita, 1, Madrid, 1983. [= Excav Arqueol España, 126.]

The place-names of Lincolnshire, 1, 1985. [= English Place-Name Soc, 58.]
Highland songs of the 'Forty-Five, Edinburgh, 1984. [= Scot Gaelic Texts, 15.]
Harnessing the wind, Aberdeen, 1984.
Glengarnock, a Scottish open hearth steelworks, the works, the people, Leilaelaan, 1981.
Approaches to the archaeological heritage, Cambridge, 1984.
The cult of St Oswald on the Continent, Jarrow, 1983. [= Jarrow Lecture, 1983.]
Scottish trade with Ireland in the 18th Century, Edinburgh, 1985.
The European Iron Age, Sheffield, 1984.
Wigber Low, Derbyshire: a Bronze Age and Anglian burial site in the White Peak, Sheffield, 1983.
War in the Middle Ages, Oxford, 1984.
Old Rutherglen with Burnside, Glasgow, 1984.
Minor prose works of King James VI and I, Edinburgh, 1982. [= Scot Text Soc, 4 ser, 14.]
The Roman small finds from excavations in Colchester 1971–79, Colchester, 1983. [= Colchester Archael Rep, 2.]
Excavations at Lion Walk, Balkerne Lane and Middleborough, Colchester, Essex, 2 V, Colchester, 1984. [= Colchester Archael Rep, 3.]
Corpus of sculpture of the Roman world. Great Britain V 1 (2), Bath and the rest of Wessex, 1982, [Corpus Signorum Imperii Romani.]


The archaeology of the clay tobacco pipe, 8, America, Oxford, 1983.

Straw plait, Aylesbury, 1981.


European economic prehistory, 1983.

Design and practice in British architecture: studies in architectural history presented to Howard Colvin, 1984. [= Archit Hist, 27.]


Les fouilles de la Rijksuniversiteit te Gent a Pessiononte 1967–73, Brugge, 1984. [= Dissertationes Archaeol Gandenses, 22.]


Dumfries silversmiths from 1626–1900, Dumfries, nd.


All the Queen’s men, 1983.

The tyranny of tide, Ann Arbor, Michigan, 1985.


The late Saxon town of Thetford, Dereham, 1976. [= E Anglian Archaeol, 4.]

Alt-und mittelpalaeolithische Funde in Norddeutschland, Hildesheim, 1981. [= Veroffent Urgeschicht Sammlungen Landesmus Hannover, 26.]

Teaching archaeology in schools, Aylesbury, 1983.

An introduction to atomic absorption spectrometry, 1982.

Kelvedon: the origins and development of a Roman small town, Chelmsford, 1982. [= Essex County Coun Council Occas Pap, 3.]


Medieval villages in SE Somerset, Bristol, 1983. [= Western Archaeol Trust Surv, 6.]


Hadrian’s Wall in the days of the Romans, Newcastle upon Tyne, 1984.


Excavations at Knowth, I, Dublin, 1984. [= Roy Ir Acad Monogr, 1.]


The diamond as big as a square; introduction to the towns and buildings of Ulster, Belfast, 1981.
E Evans
O Fairclough & E Leary
M L Faull (ed)
R Fawcett
C Fell et al (eds)
A Fenton
A Fenton & H Pálsson, (eds)
A Fenton & G Stell (eds)
G Fitzgerald
D Fletcher y E Pla
R Footman & B Young (comp)
Ford Motor Company
V Foster
S Frere
S Frere et al
S S Frere & J K S St Joseph
J Fridrich
J G P Friell & W G Watson (eds)
A Gailey
V Gainford
A P Garrod & C Heighway
A Geijer et al
G Germond
J Gifford et al
H Gilbert
D D Gilbertson
K-J Gilles
R Gillespie
Glasgow Art Gallery & Museum
H Godwin
Z Goffier
C Gómez Bellard
A Gonzalez Prats

Swansea Castle and the medieval town, Swansea, 1983.
The Viking Age in the Isle of Man, 1983. [= 9th Viking Congress.]
The Northern and Western Isles in the Viking world [Conf Pap], Edinburgh, 1984.
Festkrift til Thorlief Sjovold pa 70-årsdagen, Oslo, 1984. [= Universitets Oldsaksamlings Skrifter, 5.]
 [= Proc Roy Ir Acad, 84C, 3.]
Repertorio de bibliografia arqueologica Valenciana XI, Valencia, 1983. [= Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 78.]
Roman Britain from the air, Cambridge, 1983.
Rural houses of the North of Ireland, Edinburgh, 1984.
Tayvallich and Taynish, Tayvallich, nd.
Garrod’s Gloucester, Bristol, 1984. [= Western Archaeol Trust Excav Monogr, 6.]
As a tale that is told: a Church of Scotland parish 1913–54, Aberdeen, 1983.
Late quaternary environments and man in Holderness, Oxford, 1984. [= Brit Archaeol Rep, 134.]
Die Trierner Münzprägung im frühen Mittelalter, Koblenz, 1982.
Glasgow: times past, Newtongrange, 1983.
Archaeological chemistry, New York, 1980.
La necropolis del Puig des Molins (Ibiza), Madrid, 1984. [= Excav Arqueol Española, 132.]
Carta arqueologica del Alto Maestrazgo, Valencia, 1979. [= Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 63.]
Death is for the living, Edinburgh, 1984.
The workhouses of Ulster, Belfast, 1963. [Ulster Archit Heritage Soc Publ.]
Antiquaries of Gloucestershire and Bristol, Bristol, 1981.
Maybottle: Carrick's capital, Ayr, 1973
The gods of Roman Britain, Aylesbury, 1983.
Tickets, checks and passes, Birmingham, 1982.
Die steinzeitliche Besiedlung des Eselsburger Tales bei Heidenheim (Schwabisch Alb), Stuttgart, 1984. [Forsch u Ber z Vor-u Frühgesch Baden-Wurttemberg, 17.]
Rome and her Northern provinces: papers presented to Sheppard Frere, Gloucester, 1983.
The medieval earthworks of Rutland, Leicester, 1983. [Leics Mus, Art Gall & Rec Service Archaeol Rep, 7.]
Focus on fishing, Dundee, 1985. [Abertay Hist Soc Publ, 23.]
Fieldwalking as a method of archaeological research, 1980.
The east and north gates of Gloucester and associated sites: excavations, 1974–81, np, 1983. [Western Archaeol Trust Excav Monogr, 4.]
The Anglo-Saxon cemetery at Spong Hill, North Elmham, Pt 1, Dereham, 1977. [E Anglian Archaeol, 6.]
The Anglo-Saxon cemetery at Spong Hill, North Elmham, Pt 2, Dereham, 1981. [E Anglian Archaeol, 11.]
The past under the plough, London, 1980. [Dir Anc Mon Hist Build Occas Pap, 3.]
J Hines  
D A Hinton  
H I Høeg et al  
C Hoek  
P Horn  
J M Howell  
J R Hume & M S Moss  
C Hussey  
International Harvester  
Company of America  
Inverness Field Club

{


De arkeologiske ugraveringer i Gamlebyen, Oslo, 2 pts, Oslo, 1977.


The rural world 1780–1850, 1980.

[= Brit Archaeol Rep Int Ser, 157.]

A bed of nails, Greenock, nd.

The work of Sir Robert Lorimer, 1931.

Farm power, 2 ed, Chicago, nd.

An Inverness miscellany, Inverness, nd.

Italica (Sanitpence Sevilla), Madrid, 1982. [= Excav Arqueol España, 121.]

O počatích latěnské fortifikace v Čechách, Prague, 1983. [= Studie Archeol u Cesko Akad V Brne, 11 (1).]


Eighteen centuries of pottery from Norwich, Dereham, 1981. [= E Anglian Archaeol, 13.]

The prehistory of Denmark, 1982.


[= Norske Videnskaps–Akad 2 Hist–Filos Klasse Avhandlinger NS, 19.]

Roman forts of the 1st and 2nd centuries AD in Britain and the German provinces, 1983.


[= E Anglian Archaeol, 20.]

Late Roman fortifications, London, 1983.

Roman villas, Aylesbury, 1983.

Tongue and Farr, np, nd.


Late Roman amphorae in the Western Mediterranean, Oxford, 1984.  
[= Brit Archaeol Rep Int Ser, 196.]


The Corpus of sculpture of the Roman world: Great Britain, V 1 (4), Scotland, 1984. [= Corpus Signorum Imperii Romani.]
A field guide to the land snails of Britain and North-West Europe, 1979.
Kilmarnock – aspects of local history, Kilmarnock, nd.
Late medieval crosses in Co Meath c 1470–1635, Dublin, 1984. [= Proc Roy Ir Acad, 84C, 2.]
Les Fouaillages and the megalithic monuments of Guernsey, Alderney, C 1, 1983.
Bucket-shaped pots – a West Norwegian ceramic form: experiments with production methods, Stavanger, 1983. [= Am S Skrifter, 10.]
Late Bronze Age and Iron Age settlement in the Nene and Great Ouse Basins, Oxford, 1984. [= Brit Archaeol Rep, 130.]
The story of the May Island, Upper Largo, nd.
Mammals of Britian: their tracks, trails and signs, 2 ed, Poole, 1973.
The archaeology of Witton, near North Walsham, Norfolk, Dereham, 1983. [= E Anglian Archaeol, 18.]
Mons Meg : a royal cannon, Cheshire, 1984.
The fibre structure of leather, Northampton, 1981.
The theory and practice of jute spinning, Dundee, 1893.
Leicestershire Archaeology: the present state of knowledge, V 3. Industrial Archaeology, Leicester, 1983. [= Leics Mus Ari Gall & Rec Service Archaeol Rep, 6.]
Microcomputers in museums, Duxford, 1984. [= Mus Doc Assoc Occas Pap, 7.]
A Livingstone of Bachuil
et al (eds)
M Lloyd Jones
London University
Institute of
Commonwealth Studies
F D Logan
I H Longworth
A Lonsdale
R-M Luff
M Lutz
A Lynch
M P McDiarmid & J A C
Stevenson (eds)
A M Macdonald (comp)
D Macdonald
J MacDougall
M & A Macfarlane
T McGowran
S McGrail
A M MacGregor
S McGregor
C McKean & D Walker
M McKinley
I M Mackintosh (comp)
K McLaren
R Macleod
P McNeill
I M M MacPhail
A Macquarrie
A MacSween & C Burgess
P MacSweeney
J MacTaggart
A McWhirr
R W Malcolmson
G M Maltman
C Manning
G Mansfeld
R Marks
R Marks
R Marks et al
B Marti Oliver et al
A Martin
C Martin

The diaspora of the British, 1982. [= Coll seminar pap, 31.]
The Vikings in history, 1983.
Collared urns of the Bronze Age in Great Britain and Ireland, Cambridge, 1984.
The last monks of Kirkstall Abbey, Leeds, nd.
La sigillée de Bouchepon (Moselle), Paris, 1977. [= XXXII Suppl Gallia.]
Barbour's Bruce, V 1, Edinburgh, 1985. [= Scot Text Soc, 4 ser, 15.]
A Lewis album, Stornoway, 1982.
The Tolsta townships, Tolsta, 1984.
The Scottish radicals, Stevenage, 1981.
Ancient boat, Aylesbury, 1983.
Traditional knitting, 1983.
Wheels of farm progress, St Joseph, Michigan, 1980.
Forgotten memories of Old Toon, np, nd.
The colour science of dyes and pigments, Bristol, 1983.
Charles Rennie Mackintosh – architect and artist, 1983.
Prestonpans and vicinity, Leiceter, 1984, Reprint 1902 ed.
Au temps de Stonehenge [Exhib cat], Tournai, 1984.
Harpischord making in Ireland in the eighteenth century, Dublin, 1983. [= Proc Roy Ir Acad, 83C, 16.]
Scottish Gallovidian encyclopedia, new ed, Old Ballechin, Perthshire, 1981.
Roman crafts and industries, Aylesbury, 1982.
Memories of the lang toon of Perthshire, np, nd.
The excavation of the early Christian enclosure of Killelederdadrum in Lackenavorna, Co Tipperary, Dublin, 1984. [= Proc Roy Ir Acad, 84C, 7.]
Cova de l'Or (Beniarres-Alicante), 2, Valencia, 1980. [= Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 65.]
Reminiscences: Bo'ness from 1900 to 1939, Kirkintilloch, nd.
R Martin
R Martlew (ed)
I L Mason (ed)
G S Maxwell (ed)
A M T Maxwell-Irving
P Mayes et al
R Miket & C Burgess (eds)
D Miller & C Tilley (eds)
S Mitchell (ed)
J Monteith & J McCarroll
R Morgan
M Morris
R & F Morris
E H Moss
R A Mott
R Muir & H Welfare
H Munro & R Compton
B Murray
H Murray
Musee d'Art et d'Historie, Saint-Denis
Museo Regionale di Messina
Museums Association
B Myhre
National Museum of Antiquities of Scotland
J Newmark
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
——
J P Oakden
A C O'Dell
M J O'Kelly
M J O'Kelly et al (eds)
S Ó'Nualláin
E Opravil

Textiles in daily life in the Middle Ages, Cleveland, 1985.
Information systems in archaeology, 1984.
Evolution of domesticated animals, 1984.
[= Councl Brit Archaeol Res Rep, 49.]
The Ivirs of Bonshaw, 1968.
Sandal Castle excavations 1964–73, Wakefield, 1983.
Between and beyond the walls [George Jobey Festschrift], Edinburgh, 1984.
Armies and frontiers in Roman and Byzantine Anatolia, Oxford, 1983.
[= Brit Archaeol Rep Int Ser, 156.]
Kirkwall forge and monkish iron-making, Leeds, nd.
The National Trust guide to prehistoric and Roman Britain, 1983.
They lived by the sea, Thurso, 1983.
Bilan d’une année de recherches archéologiques à Saint-Denis, Saint-Denis, 1982.
Lusso e devozione [Exib cat], Messina, 1984.
Gårdsanlegget på Ullandhaug, I, Stavanger, 1980.[= Am S Skrifter, 4.]
Norfolk, Dereham, 1976.[= E Anglian Archaeol, 2.]
Norfolk, Dereham, 1977.[= E Anglian Archaeol, 5.]
Norfolk, Dereham, 1978.[= E Anglian Archaeol, 8.]
Norfolk. Trowse, Horning, deserted medieval villages, Kings Lynn, Dereham, 1982.[= E Anglian Archaeol, 14.]
Norfolk. Waterfront excavation and Thetford Ware production. Norwich, Dereham, 1983.[= E Anglian Archaeol, 17.]
The place-names of Staffordshire, I, Cuttlestone Hundred, 1984.[= English Place-Name Soc, 55.]
A survey of stone circles in Cork and Kerry, Dublin, 1984.[= Proc Roy Ir Acad, 84C, 1.]
Údolní niva v době hradištní, Prague, 1983.[= Studie Archaelol u Cesko Acad v Brne, 11 (2).]
Cornish place-name elements, 1985. [= English Place-Name Soc, 56–57.]

O J Padel

B Orme (ed)

N A Palk

M Palmer (ed)

R Palmer

D P Parker

M B Parkes

M Patton (comp)

L Pauli

R Paynter

S M Pearce

S M Pearce (ed)

M Pellicer Catalan et al

A Peppin

G Pereira Menant

C Périer-D’Ieteren

P Phillips (ed)

S Piggott

C Platt

C Platt

Polish Academy of Science

F J Presedo Velo et al

B Proudfoot (ed)

S Prowse

W Prummel

F Pryor

P Puertas Tricas

M A Querol y M Santonja

B Raftery

P Rahtz & L Watts

J W Ramsden

D S Ranwell

B Read

Problems and case studies in archaeological dating, Exeter, 1982.
Iron Age bridle-bits from Britain, Edinburgh, 1984. [= Univ Edinburgh Dept Archaeol Occas Pap, 10.]
Leicestershire archaeology – the present state of knowledge V3, Industrial Archaeology, Leicester, 1983. [= Leicestershire Mus Archaeol Rep Ser, 6.]
A history of Elderslie, Elderslie, 1983.
The Scriptorium of Wearmouth, Jarrow, 1982. [= Jarrow Lecture, 1982.]
Historic buildings . . . in Bangor and Groomsport, Belfast, 1984.
[= Ulster Archî Herit Soc.]
Models of spatial inequality, 1982.
Bronze age metalwork for Southwestern Britain, 2 pts, Oxford, 1983.
[= Brit Archaeol Rep, 120.]
The early church in Western Britain & Ireland, Oxford, 1982.
[= Festschrift for C A Ralegh Radford.]
El Cerro Macareno, Madrid, 1983. [= Excav Arqueol España, 124.]
Inscripciones Romanas de Valentià, Valencia, 1979. [= Ser de Trabajos del SIP, 64.]
The earliest wheeled transport from the Atlantic coast to the Caspian Sea, London, 1983.
The castle in medieval England and Wales, 1982.
Carteia I, Madrid, 1982, [= Excav Arqueol España, 120.]
Excavations at Dorestad. 2. Early medieval Dorestad: an archaeozoological study, Amersfoort, 1983. [= Nederlandse Oudheden, 11.]
Excavations arqueologicas en Lacipo (Casares Malaga), Madrid, 1982. [= Excav Arqueol España, 125.]
El yacimiento de cantos trabajadas de El Aculadero, Madrid, 1983. [= Excav Arqueol España, 130.]
Wharram Percy: the memorial stones of the churchyard, York, 1983.
[= York Univ Archaeol Publ, 1.]
The Mackintosh house [Exhib booklet], Glasgow, nd.
Margaret Macdonald Mackintosh 1864–1933 [Exhib cat], Glasgow, nd.
The wood burns but the fire goes on forever: fifteen hundred years of Scottish religious strife, Aberfeldy, 1983.
Aerial archaeology in Britain, Aylesbury, 1982.
La circulacion monetaria en la Terraconense Mediterranea, Valencia, 1982. [= Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 77.]
Carradale, np, 1983.
Kintyre: an introduction to its history, np, 1983.
The rough bounds, np, 1982.
Rural settlement in Britain, 1977.
Viking Age Denmark, 1982.
An illustrated history of needlework tools, 1983.
Travel historic rural America: a guide to agricultural museums and events in the US and Canada, St Joseph, Michigan, 1980.
Rural America a century ago, St Joseph, Michigan, 1979.
Needlemaking, Aylesbury, 1981.
Western Scottish sites, Oxford, 1984. [= Brit Archaeol Rep, 123.]
The Mary Rose, 1983.
Greek coinage, Aylesbury, 1983.
Saxon Churches in South Yorkshire, Barnsley, 1982. [= South Yorks County Archaeol Monogr, 2.]
Timber framed buildings in South Yorkshire, Barnsley, nd. [= South Yorks County Archaeol Monogr, 1.]
Zambujal, Mainz am Rhein, 1981. [= Madrider Beitrage, 5.]
Uley Bury and Norbury hillforts, Bristol, 1983. [= Western Archaeol Trust Excav Monogr, 5.]
Archaeology in Gloucestershire, Cheltenham, 1984. [= Helen O'Neil and Elsie Clifford Festschrift.]
Ancient France: Neolithic societies and their landscapes, Edinburgh, nd.
Fra Christianias bygrunn, np, 1981.
Die Kastelle in Altenstadt, Berlin, 1983. [= Limesforchungen, 22.]
E Schuld 
H Schutz 
Scottish Women's Rural Institute 
N Scourse 
R Selkirk 
J Shaw 
A Simco 
A Skjølsvold 
D B Smith 
H D Smith 
N A M Smith (ed) 
P Smith 
T P Smith 
P H A Sneath & R R Sokal 
C S Sommer 
W S Speed 
G C Stone 
J G Storry 
K J Stringer 
——— 
P D Sweetman 
D Szechi 
D H Tarling 
C Taylor 
C Taylor 
R Tertian & F Claisse 
P Thompson, T Wailey & T Lummis 
D H Tuck 
S R Tufi 
R Turner 
Ulster Historical Foundation 
Ulster Historical Foundation 
United Kingdom Institute for Conservation 
S Vandenbergh 
S Venel 
P Vermeersch (ed) 
Victoria History of the Counties of England 

The prehistory of Germanic Europe, 1983.
History of the villages of the Isle of Arran, np, 1983.
The Victorians and their flowers, Beckenham, 1983.
Slettabøboplassen, Stavanger, 1977. [= Am S Skrifter, 2.]
The first one hundred years: a history of the Royal Scottish Pipers' Society, np, nd.
‘Very good, sir’, np, nd.
Church heraldry, np, 1983.
Suffolk, Ipswich, 1975. [= E Anglian Archael, 1.]
Suffolk, Ipswich, 1976. [= E Anglian Archael, 3.]
Archaeological excavations at Shop Street, Drogheda, Co Louth, Dublin, 1984. [= Proc Roy Ir Acad, 84C 5.]
Palaeomagnetism, 1983.
The archaeology of gardens, Aylesbury, 1983.
Village and farmstead, 1983.
Living the fishing, 1983.
Oils and lubricants used on leather, Northampton, 1983.
Ivy Chimneys, Witham: an interim report, Chelmsford, 1982. [= Essex County Counc Occas Pap, 2.]
Gravestone inscriptions, V2, Belfast, Belfast, 1984.
Gravestone inscriptions, V5, County Down, Belfast, 1984.
Packaging and storage of freshly-excavated artefacts from archaeological sites, 1983.
Otazky Poznani vojenstvi v archeologii (Problems relating to the knowledge of warfare in archaeology), Praha, 1984. [= Archeological Studijni Materialy, 14.]
Contributions to the study of the mesolithic of the Belgian Lowland, Tervuren, 1982. [= Studia Praehistorica Belgica, 1.]
Viking Congress


K Vlierman
Aardewerk uit de inventaris van twee laat middeleeuwse vrachtschepen in Oostelijk Flevoland, Lelystad, 1983.

V Villaverde Bonilla
La Cova Negra de Xative y el Musteriense de la region central del mediterráneo Español, Valencia, 1984. [= Ser de Trabajos Varios del SIP, 79.]

P Wade-Martins

P Wade-Martins
Fieldwork and excavation on village sites in Launditch Hundred, Norfolk, Dereham, 1980. [= E Anglian Archaeol, 10.]

P Wade-Martins
Two post-medieval earthenware pottery groups from Fulmodeston Dereham, Dereham, 1983. [= E Anglian Archaeol, 19.]

E Wagner
Das Mittelpaläolithikum der Grossen Grotte bei Blaubeuren (Alb-Donau-Kreis), Stuttgart, 1983. [= Forschung u Berichte Vor- u Frühesch in Baden-Wurttemberg, 16.]

J M Wallace

B Wallenberg

J S Waterhouse
The stone circles of Cumbria, Chichester, 1985.

G Waterson & J Jones

A Watson & R D Clement
Aberdeenshire Gaelic, Inverness, 1983.

J & W Watson
Morayshire described, Elgin, 1983.

L Watts & P Rahtz (eds)
Cowlam Wold barrows, York, 1984. [= York Univ Archaeol Publ, 3.]

West Kilbride Amenity Society

C A Whatley
‘That important and necessary article’: the salt industry and its trade in Fife and Tayside c 1570–1850, Dundee, 1984. [= Aberay Hist Soc Publ, 22.]

K D White
Greek and Roman technology, 1984.

R Wilkins
Turrets, towels and taps, Birmingham, 1984.

C T Williams

J H Williams

P W Williams
An Anglo-Saxon cemetery at Thurcaston, Leicestershire, Leicester, 1983. [= Leics Mus Art Gall & Rec Service Archaeol Rep, 8.]

D M Wilson

J Wood

P Woods & S Hastings

F Worsdall
Victorian city, Glasgow, 1982.

H Wrede

K Wrightson

M J Yates
Meetings of the Society, 1984–85

Monday, 10 December 1984, at 7.00 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

A ballot having been taken, the following were elected Fellows:
Knut Robert James Apold; Edward Calvert Armstrong, MBE; Robert Stuart Wyllie Beaty, DA, ARBS; Honorable Joseph Sessford Brown, BA, JD; Mrs Susan Bryson, BA; John Davie Burgess; David Frank Devereux, MA, MIFA; James Drummond-Murray, BA; Major David Michael Houssemayne du Boulay, MBIM; James Murray Ferguson, BSc, MPhil, Dip Ed, FCIS, FBIM, FRSA; Professor Eric Campbell Fernie, BA, FSA; Derek Flyn, LLB; Mrs Elizabeth Kent Gallamore, BA, MLS; Miss Jane Geddes, BA, MA, PhD, FSA; Paul Goldfinch, MA, MSc; Mrs Phyllis J Goodall, MA; Rev Alastair Hunter Gray, MA, BD; David John Herschell; Derek R. Hunter; Mrs Wendy Isobel Hunter; David Linklater Ingram; George Miller Laughton, MInst M; Mrs Jacqueline Marwick, BA; Ms Janis Valerie Miller, BA, ALA; John Hugh McBrien; Norman McIntyre; Rev Dr James Lewis MacQueen; John Stuart Reid, BA; Gordon Newton Drummond Smart; Robert Smith; Miss Wendy M Smith; John Walddie; Andrew Barr White; Ms Anna Elizabeth Whitmore; Major Colin Stewart Winter, LLB.

The following Communication was read:
'Town and Country in Roman Britain: a social perspective', by M Millett, BA, DPhil, FSA.

Monday, 14 January 1985, at 5.30 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

The following Communication was read:
'Rural labour in the 16th century', by Miss Margaret H B Sanderson, MA, PhD.

Monday, 11 February 1985, at 7.00 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

A ballot having been taken, the following were elected Fellows:
Ms Celia Denise Alderton, BSc, Dip Surv; Leonard Charles Archibald; Norman K Atkinson, Dip Ed, AMA; Reginald Barley, LCP, DSMS, DASE, Cert Ed; Miss Julie Mary Bond, BTech, MA; Christopher A Brown; Mrs Margaret Brown, MA; Rev Peter Brown, MA; Stuart Campbell, MA; David Robert Bellamy Cay, MA; LLB; Alfred Fisher Churchill; Alexander Nicol Collins; Peter Davidson, BA, BSc, MBIol; Piers Jeremy Dixon, BA, MIFA; Andrew Simon Fraser; Robert C Galbraith, BS, MEd; David Coulson Geddes, BSc, MSc; Alan Hay; Ms Susan Marjorie Hothersall, MA; Nigel Arthur Kerr, BA; Rev Klaus Wilhelm Kuhne, Dip Th; Robert Alasdair Lambie, BChD, LDS; Miss Caroline Rowena Letton, MA, ALA; Mrs Shirley Middlemass; Miss Sheona MacIver; Graeme Robert Mackay, BSc; Mrs Fiona MacLeod McGill, MA; Mrs Anne McNicol; William Adair Nelson, MA, CA; David Robertson Perry, MA; Angus John Ray, AA, BA; Peter A Reid; Hugh Lachlan Erskine Ross; Major Nigel Rutherford-Young, TD; Ms Andrea Noelle Smith, BA; Andrew Robertson Somerville, BSc, PhD; Ms Stephanie B Stevenson, BA, DPhil; John Roy Towers, BA; Miss I F Turner, MA, MEd, DEP; George Alexander Way of Plean, LLB; George Wilson, MA, PhD, Dip Ed; Mrs Christine Josephine Janet Woolacott.

The following Communication was read:
'Pictish symbols, their meaning and usage', by A Jackson, MA, FilDr.

Monday, 25 February 1985, at 7.00 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

The President drew the attention of those present to recent events in the progress of the National Heritage (Scotland) Bill, which was currently under consideration in the House of Lords. Before
calling on the Secretary to report details of amendments agreed or tabled, he said that few Societies had been accorded such public recognition in Parliament for the part they had played in national life.

The Secretary reported that the pressure on Members of Parliament and Government Ministers from the Fellowship has been massive and impressive. At the Report stage of the Bill in the Commons the Government had conceded that the word ‘archaeological’ should be included in the list of functions of the new museum and the list of expertises sought by the Secretary of State among the Trustees he appointed. A second amendment gave Fellows the right of free access to the Library in the new institution. After further pressure the Government announced another amendment which was tabled in the Lords; the amendment concerned the appointment of Trustees to the new Board and read: ‘The Secretary of State for Scotland shall include amongst the trustees a Fellow of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland’. Finally the Minister of State had indicated in a letter to the Secretary that he also intended to accept an amendment from Lord Grimond which would add the word ‘historical’ to the list of functions and attributes referred to above.

The following Communication was read:
‘The Balfarg Riding School excavation: ceremonial centres and sites of the later Neolithic’, by G J Barclay, MA, FSA Scot.

Monday, 11 March 1985, at 5.30 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

The following Communication was read:
‘Dail na Caraidh: the archaeology of bronze hoards and of ritual’, by J C Barrett, BSc, FSA, FSA Scot, and R B Gourlay, MA, FSA Scot.

Monday, 8 April 1985, at 7.00 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

The following Communication was read:
‘Funeral heraldry in Scotland’, by C J Burnett, DA, AMA, FSA Scot, Dingwall Pursuivant.

Monday, 14 October 1985 at 5.30 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

The President referred to the National Heritage (Scotland) Act, and pointed out that the library was now in the Royal Museum of Scotland’s Queen Street building. He congratulated the Secretary on all the work which he had done to maintain the Society’s right of access to the library. This was greeted with acclaim by the audience.

A ballot having been taken, the following were elected Fellows:
Christopher M Alcorn, MA; Samuel Gilchrist Blair Alexander; Norman James Wilson Allan, LRCP, FRCS, FRCOG; Robert Geoffrey William Anderson, BSc, MA, DPhil, FRSC; Alec William Armstrong, ACT, TEng, AMIM, FinstPet; Mrs Elizabeth Armstrong, MA, Dip Ed; George Noel Armstrong, BEd; Joseph Armstrong; Major Thomas Armstrong; Thomas Mollison Band; David Allen Baxter; William G F Boag, MA, Dip Ed; Alexander Bolland, BD, LLB; Kenneth Booth; David Pethrus Bowler, BA, MPhil; James Armour Brown, RD, BL; Mrs Anne Brundle, BA; G. Edward Buxton III, BA; Patrick Moubraoy Cadell; Tim Cairn; Alan C M Calder; Arthur James Campbell, BSc, MS; Iain William Clifford Cameron; David Carver, MA, Dip Ed, MEd; Mrs Freda Carver, BA; John Edward Phillimore Christie; Joseph Adrian Fortescue Christie, MBA, FCIS, MBIM; Hugh Robert Crawford, AA; Miss Judith A Cripps, BA; Alexander Leith McFarlan Davidson, MB, ChB, FRCS; Robert John Diamond, BSc, MSE, ALA; Gilbert F. Douglas Jnr, MD; Thomas Hitchcock Dunbar; Mrs Evelyn R. Duncan, DipBibl; Richard Edward Dunlop, BA, MA, JD; Hugh Rankine Dunne; Miss Elizabeth Louise Ewan, BA, PhD; Joseph Alexander Fisher, ALA; John Baxton Flowers III; James Edward Fraser, MA, BA; Mrs Margaret I Fraser, BSc, PhD, MIEE, CEng, MWES; Vincent Lawrence Gaffney; John Ernest Gibbons, PhD, DipArch, RIBA, ARIAS; James A P Grant, MA, MLitt, FRSGS; Professor Robert Walter Greenfield, BA, PhD; Mrs Doreen Grove, BA; Stratford Philip Alexander Halliday, BSc; Ms Jennifer Hay; Humphrey Macaulay Holmes, CA; Iain Donald Mackintosh Jamieson, MB, ChB; Miss Violet Elizabeth Jardine, MA; Otis Clebourne Johnston Jnr; Rev Alexander Douglas Lamb, MA; Gerald Rae Larkey; Mrs Elizabeth Ann Law; Alistair James Lilburn, BSc, DFH, CEng, MIEE; Peter Lindow; Roger Alexander Lindsay, CA, NP, FBIM, Finst D;
Mrs Dianne Liston, Dip Ed; John Maloney; Alexander Mennie, DipArch, ARIBA, ARIAS; Keith Wyndham Miller, BSc, MB, ChB, FRCPG; Murray Austin Mitchell; James Harrison Monroe; Hugh P Moore; Islay Burns Muirhead, BCom, HonFIPHE; Mrs Ethel B. McBrair-Koller; Brown McCallum Jnr; Miss Marguerite McClure; Mrs Anne Shaw Macdonald; Mrs Patricia McGonigal; Miss Lindsay Joan Macgregor, MA; Archibald Robertson McLellan, BSc, PhD; Royce Neil McNeill; Archibald Cameron Macpherson, MA, LLB; Raymond M McIntyre, BBA, MBA; David R. Penman, DA, ARIAS, Dip Tp, MRTP; Mrs Tamara V C Penman, DA; William Porter-Young, JP; Malcolm David Prentis, BA, MA, PhD; Mrs Sandra Graham Purves, BSc, CEng, MICE; Captain David Rankin-Hunt; Keith W Ray, MA; A A Raymond, MCIOB; Ms Morag A Redford, BA, MA; Miss Alison G Reid, MA, AMA; Graeme Reid, MA; Samuel Reid, FBIM, FArbor A, FILAM; Gordon John Rennet, MA; Arthur Thatcher Roberts; Frederick Allan Robson; Mrs Dale Serjeantson, MA; Miss Jean Margaret Bowe Sherriff; Michael Bruce Smith, LLB, SSC, NP; David Stalker; Peter Stephen Michael Symms, BA, FIPM; Mrs Patricia Anne Thomson; George Frederick Todd, OBE; Mrs Elizabeth Patricia Torrie, MA, PhD, Dip Ed; William Tough; Gregor Trinkaus-Randall; John McEwen Trushell, MBA, FRICS, FBIM, FRSA, ACIArb; Edward Walker; Robert Scott Walker, MA, FLA; William James Ward; William Henry Wray.

The following Communication was read:
‘Monumenta Romani Imperii, recent work on Roman inscriptions and sculptured reliefs from Scotland’, by L J F Keppie, MA, MPhil, DPhil, FSA, FSA Scot.

Monday, 11 November 1985, at 5.30 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

The following Communication was read:
‘Roman and native in eastern Scotland’, by Ms L Macinnes, MA, PhD, FSA Scot.

ANNIVERSARY MEETING

MINUTES OF THE ANNIVERSARY MEETING held in the Library on Saturday 30 November 1985, at 4.00 pm, Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS, President, in the Chair.

Dr R B K Stevenson and Mr J Ellis were appointed scrutineers for the Ballot for Office-Bearers.

ANNUAL REPORT

The Secretary and Treasurer read the following Annual Report:

Membership

In the year under review the Society has seen the largest net increments to its membership. One hundred and eighty-four new Fellows were elected, while 72 memberships were lost through death, resignation or lapses. The net increase of 112 Fellows brings the total on the Roll to 2369, including 20 Honorary Fellows.

Meetings

Beyond the regular pattern of our ordinary meetings, which proceeded as usual from the last Anniversary Meeting until April and resumed in October, there has been a number of other meetings, not all of them in Edinburgh.

Recently our Fellow, Mr John Dunbar, Secretary of the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland, has travelled to Norway to give what is called there the Fischer-Lindsay Lecture, which alternates each year with the Lindsay-Fischer Lectures held here. The Rhind Lecturer for the year now finished was Professor G W S Barrow, who took as his subject ‘Patterns of Settlement in Medieval Scotland’. An extraordinary day-event was organized for Fellows by Mr Graeme Cruickshank to mark a quite extraordinary anniversary, the 1300th of the Battle of Nechtansmere. The day took the form of an excursion which centred on a visit to the probable site of the battle. Prior to that our President unveiled a commemorative cairn which the Letham and District Community Council had placed in Dunnichen, the village adjacent to the battlefield. Afterwards the two coachloads of Fellows visited Restenneth Priory where Dr Richard Fawcett described the remains
which have been recently re-examined, and the Aberlemno churchyard cross-slab, on whose historical significance the President spoke. The Forfar and District Historical Society did much to make smooth our visit to their area, and the Hunter Trust very kindly extended hospitality to the whole party.

This year, for the first time, the Society sponsored two Buchan lectures from the Regional Fund, and both, as it happened, were papers read at conferences. On 27 April in Kilmarnock, Dr Margaret Sanderson gave a paper on ‘Late Medieval Ayrshire Communities’ as a contribution to a conference on the The Middle Ages in Ayrshire organized by the Ayrshire Federation of Historical Societies. And in early July the Inverness Field Club held a conference on ‘The Highlands in the 17th Century’, at which Dr S Maclean spoke on Gaelic Poetry of the relevant period.

North-East Section

The programme of lectures in 1984-5 was the same as in Edinburgh except that there was no meeting in January, but an extra meeting heard Dr T F Watkins speak on his excavation at Rullion Green, Midlothian. The Annual General Meeting was held on 7 May and heard talks by Mr J C Murray on Aberdeen coin hoards and Mr D Evans on recent work at Aberdeen Castlegate. The following were elected to the Committee: Chairman, I A G Shepherd; Vice-Chairman, G Leiper; Secretary, A Hidalgo; Treasurer, W A Taylor; Committee members, Mrs H B Dransart, J Inglis, G Steele, Mrs K W Stewart, R A Watt, Dr A A Woodham, Miss F Young. Excursions visited the medieval site under excavation at Rattray, the Aquhollie ogam stone, Dunnideer hill fort, and Balquhain Castle. The membership of the Section now stands at about 219.

Research

The number of applications for financial support of research was fewer than in the previous year, although the total sought still exceeded the funds available. The following projects have received grants in this year now past: excavation of a Mesolithic site at Starr, Loch Doon, Ayrshire (T L Affleck); excavation of the Roman fort at Barochan Hill, Renfrewshire (L J F Keppie); survey of chambered cairns in Caithness (J L Davidson and A S Henshall); preparing a corpus of stone axes for Scotland (P R Ritchie); recording Brechin Cathedral graveyard (F S Gordon); recording graveyards in Perthshire (E C Willsher); post-survey work on the archaeological survey of Fair Isle (J R Hunter); post-excavation work on Iron Age to early medieval site at Brough an Drummin, Poltalloch, Argyll (S Cregeen); post-excavation work on the Norse House, Biggins, Papa Stour, Shetland (B E Crawford); X-ray fluorescence analysis of Viking silver ingots (S E Kruse); radiocarbon dates from ring ditch houses at Ironshill, Angus (Tayside and Fife Archaeological Committee); investigations at the Scottish colony, Caledonia Bay, Panama (P L Flavell); fieldwork in Orkney (C C Richards).

While the Society's funds to sponsor research are from time to time increased by bequests or donations, a regular annual increment is derived from the investment of the moneys paid by new Fellows on entering the Society. The inception of this policy was in 1977, and the amount of the contribution from that cumulative investment to the funds for research for this year has amounted to £898. It may be of interest to note here that, while the Research Committee naturally appreciates the modesty and economy of many of the applications, it has for some years been able to make several grants of hundreds of pounds each, and this year for the first time offered a grant as large as £1000.

Publication

In November this year Volume 114 of the Proceedings was produced. In simple bulk it is less heavy than its immediate predecessors, but, in accordance with the policy announced in the Editorial of Volume 113, it includes microfiche which comprise several hundred more pages of detailed information for the researcher. The Editor and his colleagues in the editorial group are to be congratulated on their gradual success in pulling forward the date at which the volumes are published.

No new volume in the Monograph Series has been published in the year since the last Anniversary Meeting. However, several additions to the series are at various stages of preparedness, and one should become available in 1986. Mr A M Thomson, who has dealt with the orders for Monographs, has resigned on his leaving Edinburgh, and Mr J A Crawford has undertaken this task for the Society.

As sales steadily grow, the Monograph Series continues to establish itself as an important contribution to research publication. Acknowledging that these are specialist publications, it is
The National Heritage (Scotland) Act, the Museum and the Society

Under the National Heritage (Scotland) Act, which was passed by Parliament in its last session, the old National Museum of Antiquities of Scotland and its Board of Trustees ceased to exist at the end of September 1985. The museum with which the Society has felt a parental bond for more than 200 years has now become a partner in the new National Museums of Scotland. From 1 October 1985 what were the National Museum and the Royal Scottish Museum were joined together to become the powerful core of the new group, and this core has been renamed the Royal Museum of Scotland. A new Board of Trustees has been established to take responsibility for the new organization, and the Society has lost its right to nominate members to the Board of Trustees and for its President to sit on the Board ex officio. It would not be surprising if our Society, after more than two centuries of slowly evolving parental responsibility, should feel a sense of shock and momentary sadness at the breaking of such bonds. The museum to which this Society gave birth and which it nurtured through infancy, childhood and adolescence has finally grown up, got married and left the Society behind.

At this moment, only two months after the inception of the new museum group, it is too soon to see fully how the new relationships between the Society and the museums will be shaped, but certain things are clear. The Society retains its offices in the museum, and we shall continue to meet in our traditional meeting-place. The Act guarantees that Fellows of the Society will continue to have the right of access to the Library as before. The Society will no longer have the right to nominate Trustees, but the Secretary of State for Scotland is obliged under the new Act to ensure that at least one Fellow of our Society is a member of the Board of Trustees. Indeed among the first nine Trustees appointed the chairman and three others are Fellows. Under the new dispensation, as under its predecessor, Fellows of our Society will continue to play an important role, but in a museum body with much larger resources and greatly broadened perspective. We are assured that the role of the old National Museum of Antiquities in illustrating and interpreting Scotland's history will remain a central role of the new museum. And we, the present Fellows of the Society, may legitimately feel proud on behalf of all our predecessors that the vital role played by the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland in the history of the National Museum has been so widely acknowledged and recognized during this past year.

Treasurer's Report

The fiscal good health of the Society must reside in its buoyant and indeed still increasing Fellowship. An increase of over 100 Fellows sees our subscriptions at an all time high with a similar enhancement (once again a tribute to Mrs Meldrum's industry) in our covenanted subscriptions and the income that arises therefrom. Furthermore our investment income shows a substantial increase.

Thus far the good news. On the negative side the expenses of the Society in its programme of meetings, its stationery bills, postages, Council and committee expenses have risen by an average of 25-30%. But it is in the maintenance and development of the areas of our primary interest that really great strides have been made and as a consequence greater costs borne. The inauguration of our publication fund and its present healthy condition, the reinforcement of our resources available for excavation and research and the inauguration of the new Bursary Fund, with the assistance of a legacy from Miss McKechnie of Glasgow, to assist young antiquaries to attend international symposia. The Rhind Lectureship Fund, with the addition of a bequest made to the Society by Mrs Wilson of Dundee, has been re-established so that it can fully cover the costs involved in the fulfilment of its objectives.

Added to this a new appraisal has been undertaken of the conditions and the salaries of the staff of the Society who have seen our Fellowship double over the last 18 years with a consequent massive increase in work and increases in efficiency that have formed a consistent source for comment in these and other reports. The consequence is a limited but far-reaching restructuring of salaries and the setting up of a contingency fund to which, this year, £2,000 has been voted – a fund intended to cover our ultimate legal and moral responsibilities to the Society's paid staff.

In the face of these increasing demands, it is indeed fortunate that we have been able to renegotiate with the Scottish Development Department the terms of grant given by that body to the Society to produce the distinguished series of Monographs that bear our Imprimatur. Cash-flow difficulties that were rapidly accruing have been overcome by this means and the production of the Society's own Monographs made altogether easier and more assured.
In the face of this extraordinary period of development over the last two to three years we have maintained a remarkable fiscal record. We have retained our subscription at the level fixed in 1977 through a period when inflation has diminished its real value by over 50%. We also end the year showing a surplus of £3,221.

For some years now I have endeavoured to emphasize the misleading nature of such surpluses and to draw your attention to the demands of our Society's broadening responsibilities and interests. To me it would appear that the crunch is now rapidly approaching. Tresorial estimates for the year 1985–6 suggest that surpluses will drop to near the £1000 mark and that we cannot put off for much longer the question of a rise in subscriptions. I would therefore suggest, in consultation with your Finance and Administration Committee, whose advice has been a source of great assistance, that the Society's subscription should rise as of 30 June 1986 to £15 per annum. Proportional arrangements should be made, as there are at present, for retired Fellows.

The Annual Report was adopted on the motion of Mr P J Ashmore seconded by Mr J L Davidson.

The President introduced the motion approved by Council, which had been circulated together with an explanatory letter, and had been referred to in the Treasurer's report: 'that with effect from the next financial year commencing 1 July 1986 the annual rate of subscription for Fellows be £15, but that those Fellows who are of 10 years standing and who have reached retirement may, if they wish, pay at an annual rate of £12; and that the Entrance Fee payable on election to the Fellowship be £10, but that those who are under 30 years of age on election will pay £6'. The Treasurer said that the subscription for a second Fellow from one household would be raised to £8, as proposed in the President's letter. Professor Alcock said that Council is considering the offer of Life Membership for Fellows over 60 years of age, and concessions for Fellows who have retired early.

Adoption of the motion having been proposed by the Secretary, it was seconded by Dr R B K Stevenson, and was declared carried.

The President referred to the draft proposals for changes in Law 13, approved by Council and which had been circulated, and he asked for comments. In reply to questions, the Secretary said that the proposals regarding ex officio members had been welcomed by the officials of the bodies concerned, and the proposal to have 'assessors' without voting rights was felt appropriate for Councillors who may not be Fellows. The President said that Council would seek acceptance of the proposals at a General Meeting in February.

THE BALLOT

The scrutineers reported the list of Council members for the ensuing year to be as follows:

**President**  
Professor L Alcock, MA, FSA, FRSE, FRHistS

**Vice-Presidents**  
J G Dunbar, MA, FSA  
D J Breeze, BA, PhD, FSA  
A Fenton, BA, MA, DLitt, FSA, FRSE

**Councillors**  
P J Ashmore, BSc, FSA  
Mrs E Beaton, BA  
Mrs L J Main, MA  
J G Scott, BA  
D V Clarke, BA, PhD, FSA  
R M Emerson, BA  
Mrs D M Reynolds, MA, MIFA  
Miss C R Wickham-Jones, MA, MIFA  
Miss J M Bennett, BL  
W S Hanson, BA, PhD, FSA  
Mrs A Ritchie, BA, PhD, FSA  
Miss J A Stones, MA

**Secretary**  
T F Watkins, BA, PhD, FSA

**Treasurer**  
R J Mercer, MA, FSA, MIFA

**Ex-Officio Members of Council**  
I A G Shepherd, MA, FSA, MIFA (Editor)  
M T Williams, BE (Convener of the Finance and Administration Committee)
THE ROLL

The record of deaths of the following Fellows intimated during the year 1984–5 was not read at
the meeting:

**Elected**

Miss Sylvia Benton, MA, BLitt, FSA, Four Winds, Lossiemouth, Moray.
Professor Alphonsus P Campbell, BA, MA, PhD, LLD, 11 Crownhill Street, Ottawa, Ontario,
K1J 7K1, Canada.
T Clarke, DA, 60 Balbedie Avenue, Lochore, Fife.
James Davidson, MB, ChB, FRCP, Linton Muir, West Linton, Peeblesshire.
Rev James J Davidson, St Rognvald House, Corseloan, Kirkwall, Orkney.
John Telfer Dunbar, Hartree Mill, Biggar, Lanark.
Walter Duncan, MA, JP, Quarrelwood, Kirkmahoe, Dumfries.
John H Greig, 18 Emsdorf Street, Lundin Links, Fife.
Miss Betty Cossar Hamilton, LRCP&S, DPH, 40 Drummond Place, Edinburgh.
Mrs D V Hereward, 15 High Street, Toller Porcorum, Dorchester, Dorset.
Alexander Ingles, MA, FBOA, Laurel Bank, 211 Ferry Road, Edinburgh.
Mrs Enid Poole Jones, Glyn, West Kilbride, Ayrshire.
James J Lamb, OBE, TD, LLB, WS, 49 Queen Street, Edinburgh.
Reverend Albert John Langdon, MA, LLB, Dip Ed, 41 Stewarton Drive, Cambuslang, Glasgow.
Miss M F Michie, MBE, MA, Dip Ed, Burnside, Dunlappie Road, Edzell, Brechin, Angus.
J C Milligan, PhD, MA, BSc, MEd, 25 Hilton Street, Aberdeen.
James Fairweather Milne, MA, MB, ChB, Parkhill House, Rattray, Blairgowrie, Perthshire.
Captain Sir Iain Moncreiffe of Moncreiffe, Bt, MA, LLB, PhD, Easter Moncreiffe, Bridge of
Earn, Perthshire.
Raymond John McCabe, 25A Chelsea Drive, Savannah, GA 31404, USA.
W S McLean, Westerpark, Falkirk Road, Linlithgow, West Lothian.
Peter Allan Oliver, BSc, CEng, FICE, 7 Wilson Road, Banchory, Kincardineshire.
Rev Robert Paterson, 3 Craigie Street, Prestwick, Ayrshire.
Alistair James Ross, 68 High Street, Dunblane, Perthshire.
George Shepherd, MPS, 15 Craigton Terrace, Mannofield, Aberdeen.
Dennis C Smith, FIMLS, Bridge of Brown, Ballindalloch, Banffshire.
Professor David Hugh Neven Spence, BSc, PhD, FRSE, 51 Spottiswoode Gardens, St Andrews,
Fife.
William R Spence, 3B Arkleston Court, Paisley, Renfrewshire.
Professor Alexander Thom, PhD, DSc, LLD, MA, The Hill, Dunlop, Ayrshire.
Iain C Walker, MA, PhD, PO Box 70, Greely, K0A 1Z0, Ontario, Canada.
Mrs George Waterston, Keith Bridge, Humbie, East Lothian.

COMMUNICATION

Dr R G W Anderson, Director of the National Museums of Scotland, addressed the meeting on
‘What’s past and what’s to come?’